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On January 12, 2015, the Chief Hearing Officer of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board issued the attached Initial Decision pursuant to PCAOB
Rule 5204(b) ordering, as sanctions, that the PCAOB registration of Joseph Troche,
CPA ("the Firm") be permanently revoked and that the Firm pay a civil money penalty in
the amount of $5,000. Additionally, the Chief Hearing Officer censured the Firm.

There having been no petition for Board review of the Initial Decision filed by any
party pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5460(a) and no action by the Board to call the matter for
review pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5460(b), the Initial Decision has today become final as
to Joseph Troche, CPA pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5204(d).
The Firm shall pay the civil money penalty by (a) wire transfer pursuant to
instructions provided by Board staff; or (b) United States postal money order, certified
check, bank cashier's check or bank money order; (c) made payable to the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board; (d) delivered to the Controller, Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board, 1666 K Street, N.W., Washington D.C. 20006; and (e)
submitted under a cover letter which identifies Joseph Troche, CPA as a respondent in

these proceedings, sets forth the title and PCAOB File Number of these proceedings,
and states that payment is made pursuant to this Notice, a copy of which cover letter
and money order or check shall be sent to Office of the Secretary, Attention: Phoebe W.
Brown, Secretary, Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, 1666 K Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20006.

Effective Date of Sanctions; If the Firm does not file an application for review by
the Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission") and the Commission does
not order review of sanctions ordered against the Firm on its own motion, the effective

date of the sanctions shall be the later of the expiration of the time period for filing an

PCAOB File No. 105-2014-007
March 6, 2015
Page 2

PCAOB
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

application for Commission review or the expiration of the time period for the
Commission to order review. If the Firm files an application for review by the
Commission or the Commission orders review of sanctions ordered against the Firm,

the effective date of the sanctions ordered against the Firm shall be the date the
Commission lifts the stay imposed by Section 105(e) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Phoebe W. Brown
Secretary

March 6. 2015

1666 K Street, N.W.
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In the Matter of Joseph Troche, CPA,

INITIAL DECISION

Respondent.

January 12, 2015

Summary
The evidence in the record establishes that Respondent failed to timely

file annual reports for 2013 and 2014 and failed to pay annual fees for

2012, 2013 and 2014 as required by Sections 102(d) and 102(f) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 7201 etseq.

("Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), and PCAOB Rules 2200 and 2202.
Accordingly, the motion by the Division of Enforcement and
Investigations for summary disposition is granted. Pursuant to Sections

105(c)(4) and 105(c)(5) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and PCAOB Rule
5300(a), Respondent is censured. Respondent's registration with the
PCAOB is permanently revoked, and Respondent is ordered to pay a
civil money penalty in the amount of $5,000.

Appearances
Michael C. Occhuizzo, Esq., Washington, D.C., for the Division of Enforcement
and Investigations.
No formal appearance by or on behalf of Respondent Joseph Troche, CPA.
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INITIAL DECISION
1. Background
On September 10, 2014, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
("PCAOB" or "Board") issued an Order Instituting Disciplinary Proceedings ("OIP")
against Respondent Joseph Troche, CPA ("Respondent"), pursuant to Section 105(c) of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 7201 et seq. ("Sarbanes-Oxley

Act"), and PCAOB Rule 5200(a)(1). The OIP alleges that Respondent, a proprietorship
located in New York, New York, and registered with the Board since 2004, failed to file

annual reports with the Board for the years 2013 and 2014 in violation of Section 102(d)
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and PCAOB Rule 2200, and failed to pay annual fees to the

Board for the years 2012, 2013 and 2014 in violation of Section 102(f) of the SarbanesOxley Act and PCAOB Rule 2202. The OIP directed that proceedings be held to
determine (1) whether the allegations were true and to afford Respondent an opportunity
to establish any defenses to the allegations, and (2) if violations were found, to determine
what, if any, sanctions were appropriate pursuant to Section 105(c)(4) of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act and PCAOB Rule 5300(a). The OIP further directed Respondent to file an
Answer to the allegations contained in the OIP within twenty (20) days after service of
the OIP upon Respondent.

On October 7, 2014, the Secretary filed a Notice of Service stating that the OIP
was served upon Respondent on September 15,2014. Accordingly, absent an extension,
the deadline for Respondent to serve and file an Answer to the OIP was October 6, 2014.
Respondent failed to file an Answer to the OIP by the October 6 deadline.
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On October 9, 2014, the Hearing Officer issued an order directing Respondent to
show cause why Respondent should not be deemed to be in default pursuant to PCAOB

Rule 5409(a)(2) ("Show Cause Order"), and required Respondent to file its response to
the Show Cause Order by October 30, 2014. The Show Cause Order advised Respondent
that if it failed to respond within the time allowed. Respondent may be deemed to be in
default, and a default decision may be issued finding that Respondent committed the
violations alleged in the OIP and imposing sanctions.
As of October 31, 2014, Respondent had not formally responded to the Show
Cause Order. Accordingly, on October 31, 2014, the Hearing Officer issued an order

deeming Respondent to be in default pursuant to Rule 5409(a)(2), and directing the
Division of Enforcement and Investigations ("Division") to file a motion for issuance of a
default decision by December 1, 2014.
On December 1, 2014, the Division filed its Motion for Issuance of a Default
Decision ("Default Motion"), accompanied by a Statement of Undisputed Facts and the
Declaration of Heather S. Howard ("Howard Decl."). At footnote 1 of the Division's
Default Motion, the Division noted that "On October 28, 2014 ... Respondent filed its
delinquent 2013 and 2014 annual reports."
Although Respondent had not formally appeared in this proceeding, on December
2, 2014, pursuant to Rule 5409(b), the Hearing Officer found that Respondent's October
28 filing of its delinquent 2013 and 2014 annual reports, apparently in response to the
Show Cause Order, constituted good cause to set aside the default and scheduled an
Initial Pre-Hearing Conference to be conducted by telephone conference call at 11:00
a.m., Eastern Time, on December 9, 2014 ("December 9 Conference"). Respondent was
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notified of the December 9 Conference by both email and FedEx Express. Additionally,
both Division counsel and the Case Administrator delivered telephonic voice mail
messages to Respondent reminding Respondent of the December 9 Conference.
Respondent nevertheless failed to appear or participate in the December 9 Conference.
During the December 9 Conference the Hearing Officer ordered that the annual

reports for 2013 and 2014 filed by Respondent on October 28, 2014, would be deemed to
be Respondent's Answer to the OIP. Additionally, counsel for the Division stated during
the December 9 Conference that documents had been made available to the Respondent
for inspection and copying pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5422. Accordingly, at the request of
counsel for the Division, the Hearing Officer ordered that the December 9 Conference
would serve as a pre-motion conference for the Division to file a motion for summary

disposition pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5427(c), and that the papers previously filed by the
Division in support of its Default Motion would be considered in support of the
Division's motion for summary disposition. During the December 9 Conference the
Hearing Officer also discussed with counsel for the Division the Division's views as to
the appropriate range of civil penalty amounts that should be assessed against registrants
who fail to timely file annual reports with the Board or fail to pay annual fees to the
Board.

Following the December 9 Conference, on December 12, 2014, the Hearing
Officer issued an Order deeming Respondent's filing of its annual reports to constitute
Respondent's Answer to the OIP (the "December 12 Order"). The December 12 Order
also directed that the Division file and serve by December 18, 2014, a written request that
its previously-filed Default Motion be treated as a motion for summary disposition
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pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5427 and, additionally, "any supplementary information the
Division wishes to provide as to the appropriate amount of a civil monetary penalty, if
any, to be assessed against Respondent." The December 12 Order also directed
Respondent to file a response to the Division's Motion for Summary Disposition by
January 8, 2015.
On December 18, 2014, the Division filed its Motion for Summary Disposition,
requesting that its previously-filed Default Motion and supporting materials be treated as
a motion for summary disposition and seeking summary disposition of these proceedings
pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5427. According to the Division, the undisputed facts
demonstrate that Respondent violated the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Board's rules by
failing to timely file annual reports and failing to pay annual fees. The Division's Motion
for Summary Disposition recommended Respondent's censure, revocation of

Respondent's registration, and the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of $5,000.
Respondent did not file a response to the Division's Motion for Summary
Disposition. For the reasons set forth below, the Division's Motion for Summary
Disposition is GRANTED and the sanctions requested by the Division are imposed upon
the Respondent.
2. Violations
Pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5427(d), a motion for summary disposition may be
granted "if the pleadings, depositions and admissions on file, together with the affidavits,
if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving
party is entitled to disposition as a matter of law." The evidentiary materials filed by the
Division show that there can be no genuine dispute that Respondent has violated the
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Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Board's rules.

Pursuant to Section 102(d) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and PCAOB Rules 2200
and 2201, each registered public accounting firm is required to submit an annual report to
the Board on Form 2 by June 30 of each year. In addition, pursuant to Section 102(f) of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and PCAOB Rule 2202, each registered public accounting firm
must pay an annual fee to the Board by July 31 of each year.
According to the PCAOB's electronic registration database. Respondent is a
proprietorship located in New York, New York, and became registered with the Board on
August 27, 2004, pursuant to Section 102 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Board rules. See
Exhibit E-7 to the Howard Decl. Additionally, according to the PCAOB's electronic
registration database. Respondent failed to file its annual reports for 2013 and 2014 until
October 28, 2014, and failed to pay its annual fees for 2012, 2013 and 2014. Id.
The evidentiary materials submitted by the Division also establish that, prior to
the institution of these proceedings, the PCAOB's Staff made numerous attempts to
notify Respondent of its failure to timely file annual reports or pay annual fees, and gave
Respondent multiple opportunities to withdraw from registration without penalty;
1. On September 5, 2013, the PCAOB's Registration Staff sent a letter to
Respondent at the address used in Respondent's registration application
("Registered Address") by FedEx Express, reminding Respondent of its
failure to file its 2013 annual report and pay its 2013 annual fee, and also
providing instructions for filing a Form 1-WD to withdraw from PCAOB
registration if Respondent no longer wished to be registered. See Exhibit
E-2 to the Howard Decl. at PCAOB-TROCHE-000022-23. The September

6

5, 2013 letter was delivered and signed for on September 6, 2013. Id. at

PCAOB-TROCHE-000024.
2. On September 9, 2013, the PCAOB's Registration Staff sent an email to
Respondent, advising Respondent that if the "firm no longer wishes to be

registered with the PCAOB, it should electronically submit a complete
Form 1-WD to the Board...." See Exhibit E-4 to the Howard Decl. at

PCAOB-TROCHE-000029.
3. On September 24, 2013, the PCAOB's Registration Staff telephoned
Respondent to follow up on Respondent's failure to file its annual report

for 2013. According to the Call History for Registrant #1127 - Joseph
Troche, CPA, maintained by the PCAOB's Registration Staff as a business
record, during that telephone call Mr. Troche stated that he "forgot" about
filing the 2013 annual report but that he would ".. .work on if; Mr. Troche
also stated that he was experiencing "a financial situation" but would "try
to come up with $1,000 for the fee." See Exhibit E-8 to the Howard Decl.

at PCAOB-TROCHE-000073.
4. On December 6, 2013, a member of the PCAOB's Staff sent an email to
Respondent regarding Respondent's unpaid annual fees totaling $1,000 for

2012 and 2013 and reiterating that if Respondent no longer wished to be
registered with the PCAOB it needed to file a Form 1-WD. See Exhibit E8 to the Howard Decl. at PCAOB-TROCHE-000065-66. The December 6,
2013 email expressly noted, "There is no fee associated with filing a Form
1-WD." Id. at PCAOB-TROCHE-000066.
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5. On January 7, 2014, Mr. Troche sent an email to the PCAOB's
Registration Staff, stating, "Please accept my apology for the long delay. 1
was unexpectedly faced with financial hardship due to personal
circumstances. I am diligently working on putting together the funds to
pay all past due membership fees. Again, please accept my apologies and
thank you for your patience." See Exhibit E-8 to the Howard Decl. at

PCAOB-TROCHE-000068-69.
6. On May 8, 2014, the Division sent Respondent a charging letter by FedEx
Express addressed to Respondent at Respondent's Registered Address. See
Exhibit E-6 to the Howard Decl. at PCAOB-TROCHE-000033-35. The

charging letter advised Respondent that its failure to timely file its 2013
armual report and pay its 2013 annual fee could serve as the basis for
possible disciplinary proceedings against Respondent, and offered

Respondent three options: (1) become compliant by filing its annual
report and paying its armual fee for 2013; (2) submit a Form 1-WD to
withdraw from Board registration; or (3) submit a statement of position as
to why the firm should not be charged in a disciplinary proceeding. The
charging letter also stated that the Division would not recommend that the
Board institute disciplinary proceedings if Respondent completed either of
the first two options by May 29, 2014. Id. at PCAOB-TROCHE-000034.
The charging letter was delivered and signed for on May 12, 2014. Id. at

PCAOB-TROCHE-000036.
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These undisputed facts establish that Respondent violated Sections 102(d) and
102(f) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and PCAOB Rules 2200 and 2202.
3. Sanctions

The Division requests that Respondent be censured, that Respondent's
registration be permanently revoked and that a civil monetary penalty of $5,000 be
imposed. See Division's Motion for Summary Disposition at 2.

A, Censure and Revocation of Registration

The Division has submitted ample evidence to establish that Respondent should
be censured and that Respondent's registration should be permanently revoked pursuant

to Sections 105(c)(4)(A) and 105(c)(5) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.' When Respondent
voluntarily registered with the Board, it accepted the responsibility of every registered
accounting firm to file annual reports and pay annual fees. Respondent's failure to timely
file annual reports or pay annual fees reflects, at a minimum, repeated instances of
negligent conduct, each of which constitutes a violation of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
the Board's rules. Additionally, Respondent's violations continued for several years, even
after Respondent was given options for curing them, which indicates that Respondent is
unwilling or unable to conform to PCAOB requirements. Moreover, Respondent's failure
to participate in this proceeding suggests that Respondent may lack the intent or ability to
conform to the Board's requirements.

' Pursuant to Sections 105(c)(4)(A) and 105(c)(5) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to warrant
a temporary suspension or permanent revocation of registration, a respondent's conduct

must have involved "intentional or knowing conduct, including reckless conduct," or
"repeated instances of negligent conduct, each resulting in a violation of the applicable
statutory, regulatory, or professional standard."
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B. Civil Monetary Penalty
The Division also recommends a $5,000 civil money penalty against Respondent.

Sections 105(c)(4)(D)(ii) and 105(c)(5) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act specify maximum
civil monetary penalty amounts, and these specified amounts are subject to periodic
penalty inflation adjustments as published in the Code of Federal Regulations as required
by the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996. For conduct occurring after March 3,
2009, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act penalty provisions, as adjusted, authorize the Board to
impose a civil money penalty of up to $900,000 for a natural person and up to
$17,800,000 for other persons if a violation was committed intentionally or knowingly,
including recklessly, or included repeated acts of negligent conduct. See 17 C.F.R. §
201.1004 Table IV; Larry O'Donnell, CPA, P.C., PCAOB File No. 105-2010-002 (Oct.
19, 2010), at 14. For violations after March 5, 2013, the comparable maximum adjusted
amounts are $950,000 for a natural person and $18,925,000 for other persons. See 17
C.F.R. § 201.1005 Table V. For violations after March 3, 2009, that do not involve
intentional or knowing (including reckless) conduct or repeated instances of negligence,
the Board may impose a maximum civil money penalty of $120,000 for a natural person

and $2,375,000 for other persons {see 17 C.F.R. § 201.1004 Table IV); for violations
after March 5, 2013, the comparable maximum adjusted amounts are $130,000 for a
natural person and $2,525,000 for other persons. See 17 C.F.R. § 201.1005 Table V; see

also Stan Jeong-Ha Lee, PCAOB No. 105-2012-001, at 21 (May 9, 2013) ("[A] civil
money penalty may be imposed without such a finding [of intentional or knowing
conduct, including reckless conduct, or multiple acts of negligence], so long as the
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penalty does not exceed the amount set forth in Sectionl05(c)(4)(D)(i) of the Act, as
adjusted").
In determining whether a civil money penalty is an appropriate sanction and, if so,
the amount of the penalty, the Board has stated that it is "guided by the statutorily
prescribed objectives of any exercise of [its] sanctioning authority: the protection of
investors and the public interest." Larry O'Donnell, CPA, P.C., at 9 (citations omitted).

The Board has also stated that it will consider the factors set forth in Section 21B(c) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which apply to the imposition of civil
money penalties by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission") in
administrative proceedings, as providing helpful and relevant guidance:

The factors specified in section 21B(c) include (1) whether the conduct for
which a penalty is assessed involved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or
deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement; (2) harm to
other persons resulting directly or indirectly from the conduct; (3) the
extent to which any person was unjustly enriched; (4) whether the person
against whom a penalty is assessed has previously been found by the
Commission, another appropriate regulatory agency, or self-regulatory
organization ("SRO") to have violated federal securities laws, state
securities laws, or SRO rules, or has been enjoined from such violations or
convicted of certain offenses; (5) the need to deter such person and other
persons from such conduct; and (6) such other matters as justice may
require.

Section 21B does not require that all of these factors be present as a
condition to imposing a penalty, but sets them out as factors to be
considered.

Id. at 9-10 (citation and footnotes omitted). The Commission has confirmed that "[a]n
analysis based on Section 21B is ... sufficiently flexible to be used in this context." R.E.
Bassie & Co., Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Rel. No. 3354, 2012 SEC LEXIS

89 at *47 (Jan. 10,2012).
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This is not a fraud case, nor is there any evidence of manipulative intent or deceit.
Rather, this is a case where Respondent has failed to meet its statutory obligations by not
paying its annual fees and by its delinquent filing of its annual reports; indeed,

Respondent did not file its annual reports for 2013 and 2014 until well after these
proceedings had commenced.

The Division indicates that Respondent last prepared and issued an audit report
for a public issuer on February 20, 2003. See Default Motion at 7; see also Exhibit E-1 to
the Howard Decl. at PCAOB-TROCHE-000005. The Division has offered no evidence
that Respondent has prepared, issued or participated in the preparation or issuance of
audit reports since 2003 for public issuers or brokers or dealers, and thus no evidence that
Respondent's conduct directly or indirectly harmed other persons.^ There is also no
evidence that Respondent has a prior disciplinary history. However, Respondent's
conduct involved repeated instances of at least negligent disregard of its obligations as a
registered accounting firm for an extended period of time. Further, by failing to pay
annual fees. Respondent has been unjustly enriched. Finally, there is a need to deter not
only Respondent but also other registered accounting firms from engaging in similar
conduct in order to protect investors and the public interest.
Taking all of the relevant circumstances into consideration, the $5,000 civil
money penalty sought by the Division is appropriate to accomplish the Board's remedial
objectives in this proceeding. While this is well below the maximum penalty that could

The Division notes that "Certain information required to be reported [on Respondent's
annual reports] is not readily available through other sources" (Default Motion at 7), and
argues that "investors and the Board were indirectly harmed here by the lack of access to
information about the Respondent that should have been reported annually in 2013 and
2014." The Division has failed to demonstrate that investors and the Board were in fact
"indirectly harmed" by any lack of access to information about the Respondent.

be imposed, it nonetheless reflects the seriousness of the violations and is within the
range of sanctions imposed in previous similar PCAOB proceedings.
4. Order

For the foregoing reasons, IT IS ORDERED, that the Division's Motion for
Summary Disposition is GRANTED, and,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pursuant to Sections 105(c)(4) and 105(c)(5)
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and PCAOB Rule 5300(a), for violating Section 102(d) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and PCAOB Rule 2200 by failing to timely file annual reports for
2013 and 2014, and for violating Section 102(f) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and PCAOB
Rule 2202 by failing to pay an annual fee for 2012, 2013 and 2014, Respondent Joseph
Troche, CPA, is censured and Respondent's registration with the Board is permanently
revoked. Additionally, Respondent Joseph Troche, CPA, shall pay a civil money penalty
in the amount of $5,000.

This Initial Decision will become final in accordance with PCAOB Rule
5204(d)(1) upon issuance of a notice of finality by the Secretary. Any party may obtain
Board review of this Initial Decision by filing a petition for review in accordance with
PCAOB Rule 5460(a), or the Board may, on its own initiative, order review, in which
case this Initial Decision will not become final.

Dated: January 12, 2015 , y--''

' Marc B. Dorfrhan

Hearing Officer
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